FILE COPY

DO NOT REMOVE FROM FILE

FEB 2 5 2019

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA COURT OF A

No. 18-1034

NORTHEAST NATURAL ENERGY LLC, AND NNE WATER SYSTEMS LLC, Petitioners

v.

PACHIRA ENERGY LLC, Respondent

Honorable Russell M. Clawges, Jr., Judge Circuit Court of Monongalia County Civil Action No. 18-C-369

BRIEF OF THE PETITIONERS

Counsel for Petitioners

Ancil G. Ramey WV Bar No. 3013 Steptoe & Johnson PLLC P.O. Box 2195 Huntington WV 25722-2195 P. 304.526.8133 F. 304.933.8738 ancil.ramey@steptoe-johnson.com

Charles F. Johns
WV Bar No. 5629
Kylie D. Barnhart
WV Bar No. 13162
Steptoe & Johnson PLLC
400 White Oaks Blvd.
Bridgeport, WV 26330
P. 304.933.8000

I. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

The Circuit Court abused its discretion under the four-factor test in Jefferson County Board of Education v. Jefferson County Education Association, 183 W. Va. 15, 393 S.E.2d 653 (1990), by enjoining the Defendants' use of water facilities to transport water to locations outside of the Blacksville AMI or selling water to third parties where (a) it found that "Plaintiff has established that it is likely to suffer immediate and irreparable harm" despite other portions of its Order finding that use of the Water Facilities would not constitute irreparable harm because any harm "can be calculated and reduced to monetary damages;" (b) it awarded a preliminary injunction based on a cursory affidavit; (c) it found that "Plaintiff has established that there is a likelihood of success on the merits of its claims" where the record reflects that the parties did not form a partnerhship or joint venture, but instead own the water facilities as tenants in common and where in every written agreement setting forth the parties' relationship they expressly disclaimed the formation of any partnership or joint venture; (d) it found, without identifying any source, that "enjoining Defendants from (i) transporting water to locations outside of the Blacksville AMI or (ii) selling water to third parties for use outside of the Blacksville AMI is in the public interest;" and (e) it failed to balance the comparative hardship to the respective parties.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from an order granting in part and denying in part Plaintiff's motion for a preliminary injunction related to the use of waterline and handling facilities to transport water for use during the hydraulic fracturing process of natural gas wells.

On January 20, 2011, Northeast Natural Energy LLC ("NNE" or "Defendants") and Pachira Energy LLC ("Pachira" or "Plaintiff") entered into an Area of Mutual Interest and

Exploration Agreement ("AMI Agreement") establishing the Blacksville Area of Mutual Interest ("Blacksville AMI"). Under the AMI Agreement, NNE and Pachira would jointly develop the Marcellus Shale within the Blacksville AMI.²

The parties also entered a Joint Operating Agreement ("JOA") describing the rights and obligations of the parties in the operation of the wells and establishing, with respect to the drilling and operation of wells within the AMI, that NNE would be the operator with a 75% working interest and Plaintiff would be a non-operator with a 25% working interest.³

As the operations within the Blacksville AMI expanded, NNE arranged for the construction of water line and handling facilities ("Water Facilities") inside the Blacksville AMI to transport water used in the fracking process.⁴ NNE arranged for the construction of the Water Facilities in segments as new well pads were being constructed,⁵ and Pachira shared in the direct costs associated with these Water Facilities.⁶

Although the parties attempted to memorialize an agreement regarding the Water Facilities in writing, the parties were unable to agree to the terms.⁷

Initially, water from Dunkard Creek was used for fracking operations within the AMI.⁸ At certain times of the year, however, Dunkard Creek's flow does not provide enough water to

¹ [App. at 46]

² [App. at 47]

³ [App. at 65]

⁴ [App. at 222]

⁵ [App. at 286-87]

⁶ [App. at 286]

⁷ [App. at 286] Critically, at no time did the parties agree that the use of the Water Facilities would be limited to the transportation of water from a source inside the Blacksville AMI, or to transport water only to wells located within the Blacksville AMI or wells in which the parties jointly own.

frack wells efficiently, and often, the water level is so low that withdrawal of water is prohibited. Thus, NNE arranged for the construction of an additional waterline located outside of the Blacksville AMI to bring water from the Monongahela River to the Blacksville AMI ("Monongahela Trunk Line"). Plaintiff did not participate in the costs associated with the Monongahela Trunk Line.

Additionally, NNE arranged for the construction and Pachira participated in the direct costs of constructing a waterline that connects to the Monongahela Trunk Line at the edge of the AMI to bring water sourced from the Monongahela River into the Blacksville AMI ("Mon River Extension").¹¹

The Mon River Extension connects to the existing Water Facilities and enables Defendants to provide water to all of its well pads, both those where Plaintiff has an interest and those where it does not, in addition to wells that are owned by third parties. As part of the Water Facilities, the cost and ownership of the Mon River Extension (which is located completely inside the AMI) is also 75%/25%.

On September 4, 2018, NNE began testing the Monongahela Trunk Line and the Mon River Extension to start using them to transport water for fracking wells located inside the Blacksville AMI and jointly owned by NNE, and Plaintiff known as the Mepco Wells.¹²

On September 7, 2018, the Plaintiff filed a motion for a temporary restraining order and preliminary injunction in the Northern District of West Virginia seeking to prohibit NNE's use

⁸ [App. at 222]

⁹ [App. at 222]

¹⁰ [App. at 222]

¹¹ [App. at 223]

^{12 [}App. at 204]

of the Water Facilities to transport water from a source located outside the Blacksville AMI.¹³ After this motion was filed, NNE halted operations and did not begin fracking the wells using Monongahela River water.

Before dismissing the case in federal court, on September 11, 2018, the Plaintiff filed suit in the Circuit Court of Monongalia County. On September 12, 2018, NNE commenced fracking the Mepco Wells, wells jointly owned by NNE and the Plaintiff, using the Monongahela Trunk Line and Mon River Extension. On September 13, 2018, the Plaintiff filed a motion seeking injunctive relief in the Circuit Court of Monongalia County.

Attached to the Plaintiff's "Emergency Motion for Temporary Restraining Order, Preliminary Injunction, and Request for Expedited Hearing" was a single affidavit. The affiant, Benjamin M. Statler, the Plaintiff's president, asserted that "Pachira and NNE agreed that the Water Line and Handling Facilities would be used solely to carry from the sources located within the Blacksville AMI for use at wells located within the Blacksville AMI, "19 but NNE offered a sworn declaration by Mike John, NNE's president, that stated, "[a]t no time did NNE and Pachira agree that the use of the Water Facilities would be limited to transporting

¹³ [App. at 204]

¹⁴ [App. at 5]

¹⁵ [App. at 223]

¹⁶ [App. at 123]

¹⁷ [App. at 147-150]

¹⁸ [App. at 147]

¹⁹ [App. at 148]

water from a source inside the Blacksville AMI, transporting water only to wells located within the Blacksville AMI, or in which NNE and Pachira have a joint interest."²⁰

As explained in NNE's counter-affidavit by its president: (1) "The Monongahela River is outside of the Blacksville AMI;" (2) "NNE has paid 100% of all costs associated with the Monongahela Trunk Line, which is owned 100% by NNE;" (3) "Pachira did not finance and has no ownership share on the Monongahela Trunk Line as such infrastructure is entirely outside the Blacksville AMI;" (4) "On or about July 24, 2018, I had a discussion with Mr. Statler and specifically advised him that in September of 2018, we would begin to use Monongahela River water for fracking of the Mepco Wells in the Blacksville AMI;" (5) "NNE and Pachira jointly own the Mepco Wells;" (6) "NNE commenced fracking the Mepco Wells on September 12, 2018;" (7) "For the fracking of the Mepco Wells, NNE is using the Monongahela Trunk Line and the Mon River Extension;" and (8) "If NNE is forced to stop using the Water Facilities to transport water from the Monongahela River to frack the Mepco Wells, it will be forced to haul water in trucks to the well pads for the fracking process and the water would come from outside the Blacksville AMI." 21

Additionally, in its response to the Plaintiff's preliminary injunction motion, NNE argued:

- 1. The Plaintiff was unlikely to prevail on the merits because there was no contract or agreement between the parties imposing the restrictions it sought in the form of injunctive relief.
- 2. Nothing in the AMI Agreement or the JOA restricts the use of the Water Facilities to water from within the Blacksville AMI.

²⁰ [App. at 222]

²¹ [App. at 222-23]

- 3. Neither the AMI Agreement nor the JOA restricts the use of those Water Facilities for the exclusive benefit of wells in which the Plaintiff and NNE have a joint interest.
- 4. The course of conduct between the parties created a tenancy in common permitting NNE to use the Water Facilities for its benefit.
- 5. Any damages suffered by the Plaintiff as a result of the disputed use of the water would be subject to calculation and awardable at law.
- 6. The balance of equities favored NNE as it had invested considerable funds in the installation of water lines and related facilities and was in the process of fracking wells owed by both the Plaintiff and NNE.
- 7. The public interest weighed against the award of injunctive relief because it would interfere with continued natural gas operations and production. ²²

The Court conducted a hearing on the Plaintiff's request for a preliminary injunction on September 19, 2018.²³ At the hearing, the Plaintiff offered no evidence in support of its motion, but only provided the argument of counsel.

The following exchange between the Circuit Court and the Plaintiff's counsel demonstrates why it erred in granting injunctive relief:

THE COURT: I understand that. And I guess what I'm getting at and -- you know, you're asking for an injunction, and, obviously, to get an injunction you have to substantiate that there's irreparable harm on your side of the table. I mean, I understand your partnership arguments, joint venture arguments, and I'm sympathetic to those arguments, they make sense, but I'm still trying to figure out, okay, why all of a sudden is this an emergency that requires a preliminary injunction?

MR. HAWK: Because there wasn't a trespass until last week. And, quite frankly -

THE COURT: Okay. So how are you harmed because water from the Monongahela River, as opposed to water from Dunkard Creek, has gone through those pipelines?

²² [App. at 200-19] Attached to the response were a counter-affidavit, emails, and federal court pleadings. [App. at 221-43]

²³ [App. at 244]

MR. HAWK: Well, as my partner has already said, it's this proportionate reduction in the price. As long as it's within the ...

THE COURT: That's \$.50 a barrel and it's – I can measure that. You can come in here six months from now and tell me that it's cost us X number of dollars more because we've had to pay \$.50 a barrel more.

MR. HAWK: But if it's trespass, that is where injunctive relief is appropriate. And we cite a case in our brief 7-Eleven v. Khan that states the unauthorized interference with real property interest constitutes irreparable harm as a matter of law.

THE COURT: How is it an interference? I'm sorry, I'm -- you know, maybe I'm getting a little thick up here, but, I mean, water is water. What difference does it make where it comes from if the difference is what it costs?

MR. HAWK: Well, the difference is it's actually -- Your Honor, they have a partnership. They have a duty of loyalty to each other as partners, and they are trampling on that duty of loyalty and they're looking out for their self-interest by building this extension outside of it, knowing they are going to charge for that, not get - being objected to all along the way. And, again, it's a trespass, and that's where the fact that the partnership is a separate entity. This isn't them trespassing against Pachira. This is them trespassing against this partnership that has been established. And, furthermore, it's not water that was contemplated by the original agreement.²⁴

In other words, when pressed by the Court to explain why it would suffer irreparable harm, Plaintiff's counsel could not answer the answer the question and instead attempted to tie its need for an injunction to the merits of its claims. But as the Circuit Court rightly observed, no injunction can issue where money damages can properly compensate a party.

Contrary to its ultimate decision to issue a preliminary injunction, the Circuit Court repeatedly noted that the Plaintiff had not made a showing that it was likely to succeed on the merits of its claim. For example, when the Circuit Court stated at the hearing, "I don't even think they agree that there's a partnership," the Plaintiff's counsel conceded, "I understand

²⁴ [App. at 280-81]

that's a fact issue and that's why we have litigation."²⁵ Then, redirecting the Circuit Court's attention away from what should have been the issues contrary to this Court's rule that maintaining the status quo is an insufficient reason to grant a preliminary injunction,"²⁶ the Plaintiff's counsel argued, "But the point is, is that the status quo by using this water from the Mon River to cross into the AMI has changed from what the relationship of the parties was before."²⁷

Regarding the issue of whether NNE's conduct was in furtherance of the parties' relationship, as explained in Mr. John's declarations, the use sought to be enjoined by the Plaintiff was necessitated by the unavailability of water inside the Blacksville AMI: (1) "At certain times of the year, the flow of Dunkard Creek does not provide enough water to efficiently frack wells that are scheduled to be brought online;" (2) "From July 15, 2018 to September 7, 2018, there were at least 17 days when withdrawing water from Dunkard Creek was prohibited;" and, in the absence of using the Water Facilities to transport water from the Monongahela River to frack wells within the Blacksville AMI, (3) "[I]t will be forced to haul water in trucks to the well pads for the fracking process," "[T]hat water would come from outside the Blacksville AMI," "Approximately 60 water trucks a day for 100 days with each truck making multiple trips to and from the well pad would be needed to haul water for fracking," and "Hauling water in

²⁵ [App. at 264]

²⁶ See, e.g., Markwest Liberty Midstream & Resources v. Nutt, 2018 WL 52720 at *3 (W. Va.)(memorandum)("The perfunctory order granting the preliminary injunction was grounded in the erroneous notion that it is appropriate to issue a preliminary injunction based solely on a simple conclusion that the status quo should be preserved without consideration of the well-established factors for analyzing the necessity of a preliminary injunction. The order correctly cites Powhatan Coal in terms of the function of a preliminary injunction being to preserve the status quo. However, correctly recognizing the function of a preliminary injunction does not end the inquiry. Analysis of the need for injunctive relief is still required.").

²⁷ [App. at 264-65]

trucks is more expensive than using the Water Facilities and will delay the fracking process which results in additional increases in costs."²⁸

By way of comparison, the sole affidavit offered by the Plaintiff states only that, "Historically, water from Dunkard Creek has been used to satisfy the requirement of wells within the Blacksville AMI," and in response to the argument of the Plaintiff's counsel, unsupported by any evidence, that "The point is, is that they've come in in their papers and said we've got to have this because the water is not sufficient out of Dunkard Creek, and the point is, is that is inaccurate, "30 the Circuit Court observed, "Well, and the point is, that's ultimately going to be a factual issue that's going to have to be determined by an arbiter of facts and that's not something that I'm in a position to do today." 31

At this point in the hearing, conceding that both the scope of the parties' agreement and adequacy of water from Dunkard Creek were contested factual issues, the Plaintiff's counsel reiterated the legally baseless argument that an injunction was appropriate in order to maintain the "status quo":

But part of the point about an injunction is to maintain the status quo, and the other part of the point is, is their complaint that you're going to injure me by doing this and you're going to injure yourself, and the point is that's just – we don't believe that to be true and we don't believe that to be factual.³²

²⁸ [App. at 222-24]

²⁹ [App. at 149]

³⁰ [App. at 267-68]

³¹ [App. at 268]

³² [App. at 268]

Again, this is contrary to the rule that maintaining the status quo is an insufficient reason to grant a preliminary injunction."³²

Despite expressly acknowledging factual disputes over matters central to whether the Plaintiff will ultimately prevail on the merits, the Circuit Court made the following findings of fact which undermine rather than support its ultimate decision:

- 5. There is no written agreement governing the construction, operation, or maintenance of the Water Line and Handling Facilities.
- 8. Defendants constructed another water line to connect the Monongahela River to the Water Line and Handling Facilities (the "Monongahela River Trunk Line")....
- 10. Plaintiff has no interest in and did not share in the cost of the construction, operation, or maintenance of the Monongahela River Trunk Line.
- 11. Defendant NNE WS intends to charge working interest owners such as Plaintiff their proportionate share of \$0.50 per barrel for water transported through the Monongahela River Trunk Line to the boundary of the Blacksville AMI....
- 12. Plaintiff had knowledge of the construction of the Mon River Extension and knowledge of its intended purpose to facilitate using water from the Monongahela River inside the Blacksville AMI....
- 16. There were ongoing negotiations between the parties regarding the Water Line and Handling Facilities. . . .
- 22. Any damage that Plaintiff may suffer stemming from use of the Water and Handling Facilities to transport Monongahela River water for use inside the Blacksville AMI can be calculated and reduced to economic damages.

³³ See, e.g., *Markwes*t, supra at *3 ("The perfunctory order granting the preliminary injunction was grounded in the erroneous notion that it is appropriate to issue a preliminary injunction based solely on a simple conclusion that the status quo should be preserved without consideration of the well-established factors for analyzing the necessity of a preliminary injunction. The order correctly cites Powhatan Coal in terms of the function of a preliminary injunction being to preserve the status quo. However, correctly recognizing the function of a preliminary injunction does not end the inquiry. Analysis of the need for injunctive relief is still required.").

23. Plaintiff seeks to enjoin Defendants from using the Water Line and Handling Facilities to (i) transport water from sources located outside of the Blacksville AMI; (ii) transport water to locations outside of the Blacksville AMI, or (iii) sell water to third parties for use outside of the Blacksville AMI.³⁴

Although the Circuit Court denied the Plaintiff's request to enjoin NNE from transporting water to the Blacksville AMI using the facilities it constructed at its expense and with the knowledge of the Plaintiff, it nevertheless enjoined NNE from transporting water outside of the Blacksville AMI or selling water to third parties for use outside of the Blacksville AMI without providing any meaningful distinction between those two activities. Indeed, the Circuit Court's entire analysis is set forth in but a single paragraph that fails to explain or elaborate on its conclusions:

- 6. The balance of hardship favors granting the Motion to enjoin Defendants from using the Water Line and Handling Facilities to (i) transport water to locations outside of the Blacksville AMI or (ii) sell water to third parties for use outside of the Blacksville AMI.
 - (a) The Court finds that Plaintiff has established that it is likely to suffer immediate and irreparable harm before the Court makes its final ruling on Plaintiff's request for permanent injunctive relief if Defendants are not enjoined from (i) transporting water to locations outside of the Blacksville AMI or (ii) selling water to third parties for use outside of the Blacksville AMI.
 - (b) The Court finds that Plaintiff has established that there is a likelihood of success on the merits of its claim to enjoin Defendants from using the Water Line and Handling Facilities to (i) transport water to locations outside of the Blacksville AMI or (ii) sell water to third parties for use outside of the Blacksville AMI.
 - (c) The Court finds that enjoining Defendants from (i) transporting water to locations outside of the Blacksville AMI or (ii) selling water to third parties for use outside of the Blacksville AMI is in the public interest.³⁵

³⁴ [App. at 376-78]

³⁵ [App. at 380]

This Court will review the Circuit Court's order in vain for the following:

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