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

II. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court did not abuse its discretion in granting a preliminary injunction enjoining Petitioners from using the Water Facilities to transport water to locations outside of the Blacksville AMI or to sell water to third parties for use outside of the Blacksville AMI for the following reasons.

First, the Circuit Court was presented with sufficient evidence to enjoin Petitioners’ actions. Not only did Petitioners fail to object to the sufficiency of any evidence at the Preliminary Injunction Hearing, their claim that the Circuit Court did not have sufficient evidence to enjoin them is demonstrably false. Petitioners’ argument ignores substantial evidence before the Circuit Court, including facts proffered by counsel, Pachira’s verified Complaint, the Statler Affidavit, the John Declaration, and supplemental submissions by the

parties that were specifically requested by the Circuit Court. This evidence is significantly more than a mere “cursory” affidavit as Petitioners’ allege, and was sufficient evidence to support the preliminary injunction entered by the Circuit Court.

Second, the Circuit Court did not abuse its discretion in holding that Pachira was likely to succeed on the merits. Pachira presented numerous provisions of the Uniform Partnership Act of West Virginia, W. Va. Code § 47B-1-1, *et seq.* (the “Partnership Act”) and associated case law to support its position that the parties entered into a joint venture partnership regarding the Water Facilities. In stark contrast, Petitioners relied on two treatises and one irrelevant Alabama case to support their view that the parties entered into a tenancy in common. The Circuit Court simply applied the law to the undisputed facts. Petitioners’ contention to the contrary is nothing more than a disagreement with the Circuit Court’s application of West Virginia partnership law to the undisputed facts of this case, which does not and cannot constitute an abuse of discretion.

Third, the Circuit Court did not abuse its discretion in holding that Pachira established that it was likely to suffer immediate and irreparable harm. In their brief, Petitioners present no evidence to support their argument. In fact, the excerpts that Petitioners rely upon are only relevant to the injunctive relief that the Circuit Court denied. With respect to the portion of the preliminary injunction granted by the Circuit Court, Pachira demonstrated that it would suffer immediate and irreparable harm because (i) Petitioners intended to use the Water Facilities in violation of their unwaivable duties of loyalty, care, and good faith and fair dealing, (ii) use of the Water Facilities in violation of the joint venture partnership is a trespass to partnership property, and (iii) use of the Water Facilities for purposes outside of the Blacksville AMI is an unauthorized interference with a real property interest.

Fourth, the Circuit Court did not abuse its discretion in holding that the balance of the hardships weighed in favor of Pachira. Not only did Petitioners *admit* that the Circuit Court properly applied the balance of the hardship test, they ignore the fact that the Circuit Court specifically requested that Petitioners provide detail regarding any harm that they would suffer if enjoined. There is simply no question that the Circuit Court considered the harm that a preliminary injunction may have caused Petitioners. It simply found that the balance weighed in favor of granting an injunction.

Fifth, the Circuit Court did not abuse its discretion in holding that a preliminary injunction is in the public interest. While Petitioners myopically argue that it is in the public interest to develop oil and gas interests and that utilizing the Water Facilities allows that development in a safe manner, they completely ignore any obligation for parties to act in accordance with their duties as partners. It simply cannot be public policy to promote the development of oil and gas interests in violation of any obligation or fiduciary duty associated with a joint venture partnership.

For all of these reasons, the Circuit Court did not abuse its discretion and its Order should be affirmed.

III. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

This appeal is suitable for argument pursuant to Rule 19 because it concerns claims of error in the application of settled law. *See* W. Va. R. App. P. 19(a)(1).

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Petitioners have the burden of establishing that the Circuit Court abused its discretion in granting a preliminary injunction.

In reviewing the grant of a preliminary injunction, the Court reviews (i) “the final order granting the temporary injunction and the ultimate disposition under an abuse of discretion

standard,” (ii) “the circuit court’s underlying factual findings under a clearly erroneous standard,” and (iii) “questions of law de novo.” *Hart v. Nat’l Collegiate Athletic Ass’n*, 209 W. Va. 543, 545, 550 S.E.2d 79, 81 (2001). Petitioners do not claim that the Circuit Court committed an error in any underlying findings of fact or questions of law. Therefore, the Circuit Court’s grant of the preliminary injunction is reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard. *See id.*

“The power to grant or refuse a temporary or preliminary injunction ordinarily rests in the sound discretion of the trial court according to the facts and circumstances of the particular case, and its action in the exercise of its discretion will not be disturbed on appeal in the absence of a clear showing of an abuse of such discretion.” *West v. Nat’l Mines Corp.*, 168 W. Va. 578, 589, 285 S.E.2d 670, 678 (1981). “In general, an abuse of discretion occurs when a material factor deserving significant weight is ignored, when an improper factor is relied upon, or when all proper and no improper factors are assessed but the circuit court makes a serious mistake in weighing them.” *Shafer v. Kings Tire Serv., Inc.*, 215 W. Va. 169, 177, 597 S.E.2d 302, 310 (2004) (internal citations omitted). To determine whether the Circuit Court has abused its discretion, the Court must “consider the circumstances of the particular case that have influenced the court’s decision.” *Hart*, 209 W. Va. At 547, 550 S.E.2d at 83. As this Court has previously stated, the abuse of discretion standard is meant to “safeguard[] the superior vantage points of those entrusted with primary decisional responsibility.” *State ex rel. First State Bank v. Husted*, 237 W. Va. 219, 225, 786 S.E.2d 479, 485 (2015) (internal citations omitted).

A mere disagreement with the Circuit Court’s decision does not equate to an abuse of discretion. Simply because the Circuit Court *could have* or even *should have* come to a different conclusion is not enough. *See, e.g., id.* (“When reviewing a circuit court’s decision for

abuse of discretion, words like ‘could’ and ‘should’ are not part of our judicial vocabulary.”); *see also State v. Shafer*, 237 W. Va. 616, 621, 789 S.E.2d 153, 158 (2015) (“Although this Court may not necessarily have obtained the same result had we been presiding over a case determined by a lower court, our mere disagreement with such a ruling does not automatically lead to the conclusion that the lower court abused its discretion.”) (internal citations omitted). Instead, an abuse of discretion exists only where the Circuit Court’s decision is *unsupportable*. *See Husted*, 237 W. Va. at 225, 786 S.E.2d at 485.

B. The Court should affirm the Order because the Circuit Court did not abuse its discretion by enjoining Petitioners from transporting water to locations outside of the Blacksville AMI or selling water to third parties for use outside of the Blacksville AMI.

1. The Circuit Court considered sufficient evidence to support the preliminary injunction.

On appeal, Petitioners contend that the Circuit Court did not have sufficient evidentiary support to enter a preliminary injunction. *See* Petitioners’ Brief, at 20-22. Specifically, Petitioners baldly contend that the Circuit Court considered nothing more than a “cursory affidavit” as the basis for the preliminary injunction. *See id.* at 21. That contention is simply false and should be rejected for several reasons.

First, Petitioners did not object to the sufficiency of the Statler Affidavit, or any other evidence, during the Preliminary Injunction Hearing. *See generally* APP-000244-308. As a result, Petitioners waived any arguments regarding the sufficiency of the evidence considered by the Circuit Court because they failed to provide it with “an opportunity to rule on the objection and thereby correct potential error.” *Wimer v. Hinkle*, 180 W. Va. 660, 663, 379 S.E.2d 383, 386 (1989) (“The fundamental purpose of an objection to evidence is to bring to the court’s attention potentially inadmissible evidence so that the court may make a ruling on the question.”).

Petitioners’ strategic decision to remain silent at the Circuit Court level should not grant them

now an “unfair advantage.” *Id.*; *see also Wood v. Crane Co.*, 764 F.3d 316, 326 (4th Cir. 2014) (“Our litigation system typically operates on a raise-or-waive model: if a litigant fails to raise a claim in a complaint, or a defense in an answer, or to preserve an objection at trial, they are generally out of luck . . . [t]his model forces efficiency and discourages sandbagging.”). As a result, this Court should reject Petitioners’ argument regarding the sufficiency of the evidence considered by the Circuit Court.

Second, Petitioners’ representation that the Statler Affidavit was the only evidence that the Circuit Court considered in granting Pachira’s Motion is demonstrably false. In fact, the Order states that the Circuit Court “considered proffered facts by counsel, statements in Plaintiff’s verified complaint, the affidavits of Benjamin Statler and Mike John, and the arguments of counsel.”³ APP-000375. In addition, the Circuit Court specifically “requested that [Petitioners] provide additional detail as to the damages they would suffer if an injunction should issue.” *Id.* On September 14, 2018, Petitioners provided an eighteen-page letter, including attachments, detailing those alleged damages. *See* APP-000415-432. On September 26, 2018, Pachira filed a forty-one-page letter, which included an affidavit of Carl Howes, Pachira’s Vice President, with nearly thirty pages of supporting documentation refuting Petitioners’ purported damages. *See* APP-000433-473.⁴ In light of these undisputed facts, it is clear that the Circuit Court considered much more than an allegedly cursory affidavit in ruling on the Motion.

³ Notably, this statement was not included in either of the draft orders proffered by the parties. Rather, this statement was added by the Circuit Court. APP-000477; APP-000486.

⁴ It is telling that despite including these supplemental letters in their Rule 7(e) Notice, Petitioners failed to include them in the original Appendix. Unsurprisingly, these documents completely undermine Petitioners’ argument that the Circuit Court failed to consider sufficient evidence to support a preliminary injunction, particularly the relative harm that Petitioners would suffer if enjoined. It was not until Pachira pointed out the omissions that these documents were included in a Supplemental Appendix. *See* APP-000415-501.

Third, even if the Court were to ignore the substantial evidence considered by the Circuit Court and, instead, focus solely on the Statler Affidavit as Petitioners suggest, an affidavit is sufficient evidentiary support to form the basis for injunctive relief. W. Va. Code § 53-5-8; *see also* Petitioners' Brief, at 20. Although Petitioners claim that a cursory affidavit is insufficient to support the issuance of an injunction (Petitioners' Brief, at 20-21 (relying on *Jefferson Cnty. Bd. of Educ. v. Jefferson Cnty. Educ. Ass'n*, 183 W. Va. 15, 393 S.E.2d 653 (1990))), they failed to provide any case law to explain what constitutes a "cursory" affidavit or how the Statler Affidavit fits that definition. *See* Petitioners' Brief, at 20-22. The Statler Affidavit set forth detailed factual support for the Motion and the past course of conduct among the parties. *See* APP-000147-151. As a result, it was not "cursory," as Petitioners suggest, and it provided the Circuit Court with an adequate basis to grant the Motion.

Therefore, contrary to Petitioners' assertion, the Circuit Court considered adequate evidence to support a preliminary injunction enjoining Petitioners from using the Water Facilities "(i) to transport water to locations outside of the Blacksville AMI or (ii) to sell water to third parties for use outside of the Blacksville AMI."⁵ APP-000381. Petitioners' mere disagreement with the Circuit Court's finding of sufficient evidence to enjoin them does not constitute an abuse of discretion by the Court. *See Hustead*, 237 W. Va. at 225, 786 S.E.2d at 485; *Shafer*, 237 W. Va. at 621, 789 S.E.2d at 158. Because the Circuit Court considered sufficient evidence of record to grant Pachira's Motion, the Order should be affirmed.

⁵ The Circuit Court did not merely rubber stamp an order granting Pachira's Motion. Instead, the Circuit Court carefully weighed the sufficiency of the evidence in issuing its order as evidenced by the Circuit Court's denial of Pachira's Motion with respect to enjoining Petitioners' use of the Water Facilities "to transport Monongahela River water for use at wells located within the Blacksville AMI that are jointly owned by Plaintiff and NNE." APP-000381.

2. The Circuit Court did not abuse its discretion in holding that Pachira demonstrated a likelihood of success on the merits.

Petitioners contend that the Circuit Court abused its discretion in holding that Pachira “established that there is a likelihood of success on the merits of its claims.”⁶ Petitioners’ Brief, at 23. Petitioners justify their position by asserting that the “evidence is undisputed that the parties did not form a partnership, joint venture, or have any other agreement related to the Water Facilities, but instead own the Water Facilities as tenants in common[.]” *Id.* This is false. To the contrary, Pachira has made clear from the outset of this action that the Water Facilities are jointly-owned joint venture property, governed by the Partnership Act. *See, e.g.*, APP-000014 (¶¶ 65-66); APP-000021-23 (¶¶ 119-137); APP-000026-28 (¶¶ 160-180); APP-000032-34 (¶¶ 209-229); APP-000039-42 (¶¶ 272-297). At its core, Petitioners’ argument is merely a transparent disagreement with the Circuit Court’s application of the law to the undisputed facts of this case. However, as previously stated, a mere disagreement with the Circuit Court’s ruling does not constitute an abuse of discretion. *See Hustead*, 237 W. Va. at 225, 786 S.E.2d at 485; *Shafer*, 237 W. Va. at 621, 789 S.E.2d at 158.

Notably, the Circuit Court’s findings of fact related to the Water Facilities are undisputed and were contained in Petitioners’ proposed order to the Circuit Court.⁷ Specifically, the following facts are undisputed:

⁶ Petitioners claim that the Circuit Court’s failure to cite substantive law in the Order warrants setting aside the preliminary injunction. Ironically, they cite no case law to support their position.

⁷ Indeed, the Circuit Court asked the parties to jointly propose an order setting forth its ruling on the Motion. The parties could not agree and submitted separate proposed orders. *See* APP-000474-501. As part of its submission, Pachira provided the Circuit Court with a redlined document comparing Petitioners’ proposed order to its proposed order. *See* APP-000494-501. With the exception of six findings of fact, the findings of fact proposed by both parties *are identical and undisputed* as they relate to the Water Facilities. *See id.*

- NNE constructed and Plaintiff participated in the cost of constructing [the Water Facilities]. *See* APP-000222 (¶¶ 7-8); APP-000478 (¶ 4).
- There is no written agreement governing the construction, operation, or maintenance of the [Water Facilities]. *See* APP-000014 (¶ 63); APP-000354 (¶ 63); APP-000478 (¶ 5).
- NNE and Plaintiff shared the direct cost of construction, operation, and maintenance of the [Water Facilities] using the same 75%/25% ratio used in the AMI Agreement and the JOA. *See* APP-000222 (¶ 8); APP-000478 (¶ 6).
- The Monongahela River Trunk Line is located outside of the Blacksville AMI. *See* APP-000222 (¶ 14); APP-000478 (¶ 8).
- Plaintiff has no interest in and did not share in the cost of construction, operation, or maintenance of the Monongahela River Trunk Line. *See* APP-000222-223 (¶ 15); APP-000478 (¶ 9).
- Defendants intend to use the [Water Facilities] to transport water from the Monongahela River Trunk Line to wells outside of the Blacksville AMI in which Pachira holds no interest. *See* APP-000021 (¶ 124); APP-000359 (¶ 124); APP-000480 (¶ 19).
- Defendants also advised Plaintiff of the possibility of using the [Water Facilities] to sell water to third parties for use outside of the Blacksville AMI. *See* APP-000148 (¶ 14); APP-000480 (¶ 20).

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